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1 

SAD DEMISE OF THE MAGNIFICENT  

KAURI FORESTS 
 

 
 
 

 
LEFT: THE MIGHTY KAURI TREE. 

 

Kauri timber was the first New Zealand natural resource to 
be extracted by Europeans, and the first export.  

The first recorded Kauri cut was at Manawaroa Bay in the 
Bay of Islands by Marion du Fresne in 1772, for his ship’s 
foremast.  

The export trade commenced when the British Royal Navy 
ship “Fancy” took 200 trees for spars from Doubtless Bay in 
Northland and the Coromandel Coast in 1794, 25 years 
after Captain James Cook’s rediscovery of New Zealand in 
1769.  

Merchants from Sydney in the newly settled New South 
Wales colony, and British Navy merchants were actively 

trading at the turn of the 19th century.  

At first, with access only from the coast, relatively young, straight trees were cut that were 
ideal as masts and spars for sailing ships. 

 European trading ships started entering the Kaipara Harbour about 1838 to trade for 
timber. Most of the Kauri timber was extracted during the 19th century. 

Before the turn of the century, Kauri was milled at an average rate of 236,000 cubic metres 
a year. The rate of production after a final ten-year boom period in the late 19th and early 
20th century declined to an annual average of 3000 cubic metres.  

The magnificent Kauri forests that once covered 1.6 million hectares (4 million acres) of the 
northern half of the North Island were destroyed by logging, fire and clearing for farming to 
leave about 7,000 hectares (18,000 acres) of remnants, mainly in the Waipoua forests in 
Northland, and State forest on the Coromandel Peninsula. Most of the Kauri timber was 
extracted during the 19th century. Before the turn of the century, Kauri was milled at an 
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average rate of 236,000 cubic metres a year. The rate of production after a final ten-year 
boom period in the late 19th and early 20th century declined to an annual average of 3000 
cubic metres. 

It took another 70 years of Kauri logging before realization of the dwindled resource, and a 
growing public sentiment to save the forest, caused government policy to be established 
for protection in 1973. This was the first protective legislation for an indigenous tree in New 
Zealand.  

Starting in about 1830, after three decades of removing small trees, pit sawyers moved into 
the forests to cut logs into boards for local and export markets. Kauri rapidly became the 
preferred timber for house construction, furniture, and boatbuilding. The wood is soft, but 
strong and durable, with an even straight grain free of knots. Kauri is so easy to work that it 
is possible to plane against the grain. 

Sawmills were first established in the late 1830’s, and soon there were numerous small 
mills powered initially by water wheels, and then later with steam, cutting logs from Kauri 
forests around the sheltered harbors of Northland, Auckland and the Coromandel 
Peninsula. 

Industry expansion was in excess of demand in the 1880’s causing many mills to declare 
bankruptcy.  

The Kauri Timber Company was formed in 1888 by a group of financiers in Melbourne, 
Australia, and quickly gained a monopoly of the Kauri industry by the takeover of a number 
of the distressed milling companies. 

It owned and operated as many as thirty mills at one time, and shipped Kauri to Australia 
and the West Coast of the United States. 

With the depletion of Kauri resources, the company diversified operations into other 
timbers, by taking over other milling companies including the ‘White Pine Company’ in 
1902, Ellis and Burnand in 1904, and Butler Brothers in 1907.  

In 1961 the Kauri Timber Company was itself taken over by Fletcher Timber Ltd, which is 
today New Zealand’s second largest forestry company, operating in a number of countries. 
The depressed state of the Kauri industry continued until 1897, by which time 75 percent of 
the Kauri forests had been cut. Production then increased in a final great boom period that 
reached a peak in 1907. From thereon Kauri production declined, and minor quantities 
were milled from 1920 until 1973 when Kauri became protected. The supply of logs from 
private land had almost ceased in the late 1950’s and early 1960’s, but continued from 
State forests. 

 About 3000 Kauri dams were built in New Zealand in the 19th century and early 20th 
century. Called driving dams, they were built to transport large quantities of logs 
downstream from areas with no roads.  
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They played a significant part in the destruction of the forest, in making the removal of 
trees from inaccessible areas possible, and in the forest damage and soil erosion caused by 
the massive surge of logs and water. Even so, it is difficult not to recognize the impressive 
feats in building them without engineering drawings or calculations.  

The Kauri dams withstood the pressure of tons of water, and a massive force of logs and 
water surging through them when the dam was tripped. Many Kauri dams are still in place 
today. 

In the year of 1832 the idea of harvesting the Kauri tree and other trees such as the Totara 
and Kahikatea for commercial purposes between the Hokianga and Northern Wairoa was 
discussed in earnest between a European and local Maori.  

The Jewish merchant, Joel Polack on his journey through the Waipoua forest 1832 meets up 
with Parore Te Awha the ruling chief of this area at the time and the following conversation 
as recorded by Joel took place… 

This chief, after silence could be obtained from the Babel of tongues, commenced a 
discourse on the subject of my journey, regretted that his agricultural pursuits prevented 
him from the satisfaction of accompanying me, as his heart was set upon having 
commercial Europeans residing in his various settlements; that, unfortunately, his people 
had nothing to employ their thoughts or hands, after planting, but themes of war and 
renewing old grievances; but, if commerce was instituted among his tribe, they would be 
employed in working for articles that would prove most serviceable to them, by dressing the 
korari, or flax, felling timber, and planting provisions for other markets. I assented to all that 
the chief advanced.  

Previously to taking leave, Parore showed me a puka-puka, written in English by a European 
residing on the Hokianga, announcing his intention, together with a company of commercial 
men in Sydney, to take the trade of flax and spars into their own hands. I bade the chief 
dismiss any fears as to the object of my journey, as it was intended to benefit natives and 
Europeans generally; that, if the river was found to be navigable for shipping, his lands 
would be rendered as valuable as the soil in the vicinity of those rivers inhabited by 
Europeans.  

The chief was much pleased with my answer, which carried conviction. He gave me his 
nephew, Tamaroa, a smart active young chief, and a young friend, as companions in my 
journey, desiring them to use their influence in procuring me canoes, to accelerate my 
mission in descending the rivers Kaihu, Wairoa, and Kaipara.  

The chief then presented me with additional provisions for the journey, also a pig which had 
originally belonged to Tamaroa, and now followed him with the fidelity of a dog. An 
increase to our stock of vegetables was added, with some bundles of fern-root and dried 
fish. I, then, made my troop pass on before me, and hastened away.  
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Kauri timber was the first New Zealand natural resource to be extracted by Europeans, and 
the first export.  
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HARVESTING TIMBER 
 

 

 

MEN OF THE BUSH 

 

 

IN 1911 TRAVEL WRITER W. H. KOEBEL DESCRIBED  

THE NEW ZEALAND BUSH MAN 

  

“Clad in blue dungaree trousers and coarse grey shirt, with 
clasp-knife in his belt, he plies his long-handled, keen-
bladed axe with lithe, supple movements: He is of spare 
rather than of heavy build, but every muscle in his frame is 
of iron blended with elasticity. His arms and bearded face 
are tanned to dark mahogany, and his eye glows with the 
steady, keen light that only those who live their lives with 
nature possess” 

 

LEFT:  ONE MAN HOLDING AN AXE ANOTHER MAN SITTING ON A FELLED KAURI: BOTH WEARING 

HOBNAILED BOOTS AND WOOLLY HATS. A TWO MAN CROSS CUT SAW RESTS ON THE LOG. 
1 

 

BUSH CAMPS 

 

Close-knit teams of bush men often lived in remote camps, working up to 12 hours a day, 
six days a week. Sunday jobs included sharpening tools and doing laundry. 

 Alcohol was usually forbidden, but the men relaxed by smoking pipes, playing cards and 
holding men-only buck dances. 

                                                

1  FROM AUCKLAND WAR MEMORIAL MUSEUM  
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The all-important cook was up at 4 a.m. to prepare a huge breakfast of porridge and meat 
stew. The men had jam sandwiches for lunch, but expected a dinner of soup, meat and 
vegetables, and pudding.  

The cook announced meals by blowing on a bullock horn, which also raised the alarm if 
there was an accident. Injured men could face slow death or a painful trip to reach medical 
help. 

Most bush camps were all-male, but sometimes the wife and children of the boss lived 
there too, the woman cooking for the men. 

 

TREE FELLING 

 

Gangs of bush men felled trees using axes and two-man crosscut saws. A scarf (wedge-
shaped cut) was chopped in the trunk, on the side where the tree was expected to fall. The 
tree was then sawn through from the other side. Usually trees were cut singly, but a skilled 
bushman could fell several at a time in a drive. He did this by chopping scarfs in a line of 
trees up a hill, and then felling the highest tree, which took down the others like a row of 
dominoes. 

Bushmen sometimes admired their beautiful surroundings, even though their work 
eventually destroyed many native forests. They learned bush lore, such as how to extract 
Matai beer– drinkable sap – from Matai trees. 

     

 
LEFT:  FOUR MEN USE TIMBER JACKS TO SHIFT A HUGE LOG. THE 

TIMBER JACK WAS A NEW ZEALAND ADAPTATION OF THE SCREW 

JACK, AND WAS WIDELY USED IN THE BUSH WHEN OTHER 

METHODS OF MOVING LOGS WERE UNAVAILABLE. THE JACK HAD 

A SPEAR-SHAPED BAR FITTED INTO A STOCK, WHICH CONTAINED 

A RATCHET OPERATED BY A SYSTEM OF COGS. TURNING A 

HANDLE MOVED THE BAR UP OR DOWN. ONE END OF THE JACK 

WAS HELD ON THE GROUND, WHILE THE SPEAR END OF THE BAR 

WAS FITTED UNDER THE LOG. THE HANDLE WAS THEN TURNED 

CLOCKWISE TO MOVE THE BAR UP AND ROLL THE LOG SIDEWAYS 

 

FELLING TREES WITH WOOD 

 

The hard wood of one native tree, the 
Rata, was used to help fell other trees. 

Early bushmen made strong axe handles from Rata, and it was also used to build sawmills 
and sawmilling machinery. The sleepers of tramways made to transport logs out of the 
bush were often Rata. 
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TRANSPORT 

 

Trees were sawn into logs before being taken to the mill. During this process the logs were 
moved using the timber jack (a New Zealand adaptation of a screw jack). Teams of bullock’s 
hauled logs to the mill, and in rugged areas, chutes, rolling and skidding roads and bush 
tramways were used. Driving dams helped float Kauri, the only buoyant native timber, 
down rivers – when water was released from behind the dam, the logs cascaded 
downstream with it. 

About 3000 Kauri dams were built in New Zealand in the 19th century and early 20th 
century. Called driving dams, they were built to transport large quantities of logs 
downstream from areas with no roads.  

They played a significant part in the destruction of the forest, in making the removal of 
trees from inaccessible areas possible, and in the forest damage and soil erosion caused by 
the massive surge of logs and water. Even so, it is difficult not to recognize the impressive 
feats in building them without engineering drawings or calculations.  

The Kauri dams withstood the pressure of tons of water, and a massive force of logs and 
water surging through them when the dam was tripped. Many Kauri dams are still in place 
today. 
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ABOVE:  JUST ONE OF MANY PLANS FOR A DAM. BASICALLY WHEN THE WATER REACHED THE TOP THE GATE IN THE CENTRE WAS TRIPPED-OPENED AND 

THE WATER WOULD RUSH THROUGH TRANSPORTING THE TIMBER LOGS ALONG WITH IT. 
 
 
 
 
 

BELOW:  A SUBSTANTIAL TIMBER DAM WITH TWO TRIP GATES IN THE CENTRE.  
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ABOVE: LOGS WAITING FOR THE GATE TO BE TRIPPED OR OPENED. 

AT LEFT A PICNIC BY THE POOL THE DAM HAS CREATED. 

 

 

BELOW:  LOGS BEING WASHED DOWN STREAM AFTER THE DAM HAD BEEN OPENED OR TRIPPED. 
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ABOVE:  THE DEATH OF ANOTHER NORTHLAND GIANT 
SUCCESSIVE STAGES IN FELLING A KAURI TREE 

 

SAWMILLING 

 

Once the gate way into the Hokianga and Kaipara Harbour’s had been navigated the export 
of Kauri and other timbers began in earnest and prior to about 1840 the timber industry for 
these Harbour’s had been confined to the preparation of spars for ships initially for the 
British Navy and small quantities of pit sawn timber for supply to the early settlers and for 
export.  

Mostly Kauri, but puriri, rimu and the white pine (kahikatea) were also cut in quantity.  

Some timber was milled near the logging site. Logs were jacked into position on a platform 
over a pit. They were then cut up by two men using a crosscut saw, one standing on top of 
the log and one beneath. 
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Pit-sawing could not keep up with the demand for timber, and from the 1840s, water-
powered sawmills were built. After 1865 steam-powered mills appeared. 

Sawmilling was skilled work. Sawyers had to judge how to cut a log to get the correct size 
and grade of timber. Like logging, milling was risky. Early machinery lacked safety guards, 
and there were some gruesome accidents. From the 1890s sawmill and timber workers 
unions helped improve conditions of work. 

 
 

LEFT: SOME OF MY RELATIONS PIT SAWING 

TIMBER IN THE WAIKATO 

 

 

Small individually owned 
mills dotted the shores of 
the Harbours and navigable 
rivers with varying success 
until 1888, when the giant 
Melbourne-based Kauri 
Timber Company swept in 
with new technology and a 
firm financial base.  

They bought up existing 
mills throughout the Kauri lands and established new ones.  

Within thirty years the hills were stripped of most usable timber and little but scrub and 
bare stumps remained, bordering Harbours, which had lost their pristine clarity through the 
dumping of sawdust and the beginnings of soil erosion. 

 With the timber dwindling the Kauri Timber Company moved on, closing most of its large 
mills and leaving a population searching for new employment. 
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TIMBER MILLING 

HOKIANGA AND KAIPARA HARBOUR’S  
 

 

 

 

HOKIANGA  

 

The prosperity of Hokianga was built on flax, Kauri gum and Kauri timber. Timber mills were 
well established by the 1880’s and milling operations were conducted at Kohukohu, 
Rangiora, Koutu, Waima, Rawene, Horeke, and Waimamaku. The chief gum areas were 
near Taheke, at Koutu, and around Rangi Point.  

Europeans relied for their living almost exclusively on local resources: Felling, sawing and 
preparing timber for exporting and also for the local market as European settlers 
demanded. The ship-building industry that developed at Horeke was of course also based 
on timber resources. 

By 1827 the timber industry on the Hokianga was in full swing as a notice that appeared in 
the Sydney Gazette May 1827 would indicate… 

 A branch of commerce had been entered into by Messrs Raine and Ramsey. The speculation 
consists of an extension of trade with New Zealand. A cargo of produce was brought up the 
other day in the barque “Faith” consisting of spars, fine deal planks, and forty tons of flax.   

A few days later the same journal stated… 

About fifty English men from this port (Sydney) are at Hokianga, sawing timber for deals 
and instructing the Maori in shipbuilding.  

In October 1827 when Earle Augustus, the artist and author, visited the Horeke settlement 
beside the Hokianga Harbour with Captain Kent in the Governor Macquarie, he was 
surprised to see that, there were store-houses, dwelling houses and various offices for the 
mechanics: and every department seemed as well filled as it could have been in a civilised 
country. 
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By the end of 1831, then, it could fairly be said that a lively trade in Kauri timber with the 
Europeans had been initiated between Hokianga and Sydney:  in garden provisions and 
pork as well as timber, with the Maori people.  

It was at Pakanae, the settlement of Chief Moetara, that all this begun, but Kohukohu 
ultimately became the most successful of the timber settlements:  it soon became the main 
base for the timber gatherers situated upstream from the Narrows of the Hokianga 
Harbour. 

 
 
 

LEFT:  SAILING SHIPS AT KOHUKOHU HOKIANGA 

HARBOUR.  
2

 

 
THIS PLACE HAD BEEN GIVEN THE NAME DEPTFORD, 
AND ALREADY THE SCHOONER ENTERPRISE HAD BEEN 

BUILT HERE, LAUNCHED AND HAD GONE TO SEA.  

                                                

2 SOURCE:  EARLE, AUGUSTUS, 1793-1838 
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WILLIAM WEBSTER 

 

LEFT:  WILLIAM WEBSTER WAS THE FIRST SETTLER IN THE WAIRERE BOULDER VALLEY HOKIANGA AND 

ERECTED NEW ZEALAND'S FIRST WATER DRIVEN TIMBER MILL.  

 

William was born in 1816 in Montrose Scotland. He was in the 
process of studying medicine in Glasgow when the travel bug 
hit him and he wanted to try his fortune in the colonies and 
left in 1839 for New Zealand. He arrived at Wellington on 
Sunday 23.02.1840 on board the Bengal Merchant.  

William settled at Wairere in the Hokianga where the big 
Kauri trees grew. He brought out with him a sawmill plant. 
This was New Zealand's first water driven timber mill. 
Production started in 1845. His genial nature caused the 

natives to place great confidence in him. For years in the early days he held services 
amongst them, and before there was a doctor on the river, he attended to their ailments 
with considerable success.  

In May 1841 William had a happy reunion with his brother John, who decided to join him 
and help him to get the mill going.  

In 1842 they were joined by a third brother named George. He stayed with William and 
John, but went back to Scotland in l845 when the troubles with Hone Heke began. 

 A flood damaged The Webster's saw mill. The timber business declined and he abandoned 
operations. He sold the mill and parts of the machinery were put at Mahurangi in a flour 
mill. The circular saw etc. was sold to Thomas Henderson.  

In 1851 William married Annabella or Hana whose mother was a close relative of the big 
Ngapuhi chief Nene. Her father was Colin Gillies, a Scotsman who landed in NZ in l825.  

This marriage of William’s is believed to be the first legal marriage between Maori and 
Pakeha.  

Hana and William had 7 children, 2 girls and 5 boys.  

John Webster quotes from his journal ‘Reminiscences of an Old Settler in Australia and 
New Zealand’. 

 

In July, 1844, I made the acquaintance of Dr. (now Sir John Logan) Campbell. He had come 
to Hokianga to arrange with Mr. George Frederick Russell for a cargo of hewn Kauri spars 
and baulk timber, for the Home market (London). All squared by the Maori.  

In September of the same year a ship arrived for the above cargo, Captain Daldy in 
command.  
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One day Mr. Russell, Dr. Campbell, and Captain Daldy came up to see the mill at Wairere. 
The former gentleman had written to my brother that the party were coming, so we had a 
log on ready. The water was turned on, and a fair amount of cutting was shown them.  

I may here remark that this mill never paid my brother. He spent many thousands of pounds 
on it, but it was always breaking down. He was no engineer and had never learned to work 
a mill, but he had the confidence of my friends at Home. Nearly up to the time of his death, 
at the age of 89, he still persevered with that mill. At one time he tried steam. That also was 
a failure. He died in 1895.  

Returning to Dr. Campbell, he proved afterwards a lifelong true friend of mine. He is a few 
months older than me. There were many years before us, the events of which will be related 
at the proper time.  

My brother married in 1850. One of his daughters married Mr. Cardno, an Auckland 
merchant, another married Mr. J. McKell Geddes, also of Auckland, and now sole proprietor 
of Brown, Barret and Co.'s business.  

  

 

LEFT:  KOUTU POINT HOKIANGA HARBOUR 
(LOGS WAITING IN LIMBO FOR TRANSPORTATION AND 

MILLING) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 
ABOVE: COMMERCIAL SHIPYARD AT DEPTFORD/TE HOREKE HOKIANGA HARBOUR 

DEPTFORD DOCK YARD CENTRE LEFT HOKIANGA HARBOUR THE SHOWRACKKI, [I.E. HOREKE] COMMONLY CALLED DEPTFORD DOCK YARD, A SHIP 

BUILDING ESTABLISHMENT, BELONGING TO SOME SYDNEY MERCHANTS IN THE SHUKEANGHA [I.E. HOKIANGA] RIVER, NEW ZEALAND [PICTURE] 
3
 

                                                

3 SOURCE: NATIONAL LIBRARY OF AUSTRALIA 
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SHIPS MADE FROM NEW ZEALAND NATIVE TIMBER 

 

Shipbuilding was one of the few European manufacturing industries to predate 
colonisation. But the timber and flax resources were never much good for naval spars and 
rope, as once hoped. However, after Ngapuhi chief Patuone visited Sydney in 1826 to 
promote the Hokianga as a trading base, New South Wales merchants opened a mill and 
shipyard there, naming it Deptford after the famous Royal Navy establishment in England. 
They built several ships, including the big barque Sir George Murray in 1830. 

 

The story of Horeke shipyard - Deptford as it was sometimes called - is one of shipwreck 
and seizure, bankruptcy and death. Yet so far as actual shipbuilding was concerned the 
enterprise was a notable though short-lived success. Promoters of the venture were 
prominent Sydney merchants, Thomas Raine and Gordon D. Browne: David Ramsay, Raine's 
partner in other undertakings, seems also to have had an interest. Superintendent of the 
yard was Captain David Clark.  

A small piece of land on the foreshore at Horeke was bought from Chief Muriwai in 
November 1826. In October 1827 the first vessel from the shipyard, the 40-ton schooner 
Enterprise, reached Sydney under Clark's command. 

 Returning to Hokianga after a second voyage under another skipper, the Enterprise 
foundered in a storm north of Hokianga heads on 4 May 1828 with the loss of all hands.  

The Enterprise was not the first European vessel launched in New Zealand. 

 Over 30 years earlier, in January 1796, a small vessel called Providence sailed from Dusky 
Sound where she had been built - begun in 1792-93 by a sealing gang and completed by 
another party whose own vessel had been wrecked at Dusky in 1795; and in January 1826 
the 55-ton schooner Herald was launched at the Paihia mission station in the Bay of Islands, 
only to be wrecked at Hokianga heads, but without loss of life, two days after the Enterprise 
disaster. 

The next vessel laid down at Horeke was the brigantine New Zealander, 140 tons, which 
may be seen on the stocks in the above sketch, redrawn from Augustus Earle’s watercolour 
of Horeke in March or April 1828. The New Zealander arrived in Sydney on her maiden 
voyage in December 1828. In March 1829, on her second voyage, Clark made the Tasman 
crossing in six days which earned for the brigantine the reputation of the fastest sailor out 
of Port Jackson. 

The largest of the Horeke built vessels was the barque Sir George Murray (named after the 
Secretary of State for the Colonies). 
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Arriving in Sydney on 18 November 1830 she was immediately seized by customs officers 
for sailing without a register.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

FROM THE RIVER A FAINT PICTURE OF A SHIP BEING BUILT 
 

New Zealand not being a British possession, the New South Wales Government had refused 
a register to the New Zealander (although one had earlier been issued to the Enterprise and 
possibly also to the Herald), the question being referred to the British Government and the 
vessel meanwhile being permitted, at her owners risk, to sail between New Zealand and 
New South Wales.  

After the seizure of the Sir George Murray the matter was again referred to Britain. By this 
time however Raine, Browne, and Ramsay were all bankrupt, their failure having followed 
Raine's inability, because of the severe drought in New South Wales, to fulfil his 
government contracts for the supply of bread and milk. 

 At an auction in Sydney in January 1831 the Sir George Murray together with the Horeke 
establishment where she had been built, was sold for £1,300 to Thomas McDonnell, an East 
India Company commander and formerly a lieutenant in the Royal Navy.  

Risking the want of a register, McDonnell fitted out the barque, and on 30 March 1831, 
with his family, servants, and a number of settlers, sailed for Hokianga. 

Although the New Zealander had apparently already changed hands, she remained under 
Clark's command until 10 April 1831 when, after an eight day crossing and with the usual 
cargo of sawn timber, pork, and potatoes, Clark for the last time sailed her into Port 
Jackson.  

The Brigantine, of which he had once said he would much rather part with life than see her 
destroyed, then went into the whaling trade, and Clark returned to Hokianga where he was 
drowned six months later at the age of 65. 

His infant son grew up to become Hori Karaka (George Clark) Tawhiti, member of the House 
of Representatives for Northern Maori. 
In January 1833 the New Zealander in her turn was seized in Sydney for sailing without a 
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register. Her owner entered into sureties for double the value of vessel and cargo and once 
again the question of registers for New Zealand built vessels was referred to the British 
Government. Apart from a Pacific cruise later that year, the New Zealander remained in the 
Sydney - New Zealand run until wrecked on the Mahia peninsula on 7 August 1836. 
Meanwhile the Sir George Murray was rumoured to be sailing under a foreign flag. In 1833 
she obtained an East India Company clearance at Macao, and this was endorsed in 1836.       
Her subsequent fate is unknown. 
Several small craft may have been built at Horeke during McDonnell’s reign, but the name 
of only one has survived, the 35-ton schooner Tui. 

 During his stormy 12 months (1835-36) as honorary Additional British Resident, McDonnell 
sailed in the Tui to Kaipara; a voyage which he claimed opened that Harbour to European 
shipping. McDonnell was primarily a timber trader, and throughout the 1830s Te Horeke - 
to give it its correct name - was the principal trading establishment on the Hokianga, until 
the house on the hill, originally built for Clark, then occupied by Gordon Browne and 
afterwards McDonnell's home for over 10 years, was burnt down in 1842. 

 McDonnell was a keen horticulturist and among his other introductions to New Zealand 
was the Norfolk Island pine, the well-known trees at Waitangi and Te Wahapu in the Bay of 
Islands being the sole survivors of a box of seedlings given by him to Mrs Mair in 1836 or 
1837.  

The large pine in front of the Horeke hall was probably planted about the same time, in 
what was then McDonnell’s garden.  

The shipyard plaque stands as nearly as can be determined on the site where the Sir George 
Murray was built, the Enterprise and the New Zealander having been laid down a short 
distance upstream.  

In the old Wesleyan mission cemetery at Mangungu, about a mile down Harbour, the 
tombstone of the first superintendent David Clark may be seen lying flat on the grass. The 

quotation from Lamentations I: 12 
are still appropriate:  

“Is it nothing to you, all ye that pass 
by”. 

 

LEFT: THIS PLATE CAN BE FOUND IN HOREKE AT THE ENTRY TO 

THE PARKING OF THE HOREKE LODGE. IT MENTIONS THE 

SUPERINTENDENT DAVID CLARK, WHOSE HEAD STONE IS IN 

THE GRAVEYARD OF THE MANGUNGU MISSION HOUSE. 
4
  

 

 

                                                

4 SOURCE: NEW ZEALAND HISTORIC PLACES TRUST 
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THOMAS MCDONNELL  

 

To judge from Buller’s description of the place in the late thirties (confirmed by Charles 
Heaphy's watercolour), McDonnell lived in some style, with a large house, imposing 
gardens, and several pieces of cannon. He was indeed by virtue of birth, experience, 
possessions, and pretensions the leading settler in the Hokianga. Reputedly a younger son 
of the Earl of Antrim, he was born in Ireland in 1788, rose to the rank of lieutenant in the 
Royal Navy and served with the East India Company. He would thus have had much in 
common with Markham, but they failed to meet, for McDonnell was in England during 
1834. He returned in the following year and, to Busby's indignation, was appointed 
Additional British Resident, an honorary office granted as a result of his own solicitations. In 
the 12 months or so he occupied the position McDonnell succeeded in stirring up discord 
along the whole length of the river. During the early months of his regime, he combined 
with the missionary William White in a futile attempt to enforce temperance, but after this 
short-lived alliance the two headstrong autocrats engaged in a feud which embroiled their 
neighbours, Maori and European, and continued after the Additional Resident's resignation 
in July 1836 and White's dismissal in the same year. McDonnell failed in his efforts to 
dispose of his property to the New Zealand Company and gradually declined in fortune and 
prestige. Lieutenant Morton Jones, of HMS Pandora, described him in 1852 as a “pleasant, 
plausible, garrulous person, shunned because of his reputation, and living in an atmosphere 
of decay and fallen greatness”. He died in 1864.  

George Frederick Russell, who is elsewhere termed McDonnell’s manager or agent, also had 
some claims to gentility. A note in the Hocken Library's transcript of Markham designates 
him a relative of Lord John Russell. Settling in the Hokianga about the end of 1830, he 
married a niece of Nene. In the late thirties he shifted across the river to Kohukohu where, 
in 1869, James Buller met his well-educated half-caste daughters and their husbands, 
flourishing traders. Russell himself died in 1855.  5 

 

 

                                                

5 SOURCE:  - EARLE, 25; DAVIS, PATUONE, 23; YATE, 29; BULLER, 28, 144; RAMSDEN, MARSDEN, 75-6; RAMSDEN, BUSBY, 35N, 103-40 PASSIM, 
163, 178, 314; DNZB, 2: 8-9, 263-4; R. M. R. 
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A POT WHICH BOUGHT A THOUSAND ACRES 
EVENING POST, VOLUME XCVII, ISSUE 38, 15 FEBRUARY 1919, PAGE 16 
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KOHUKOHU TIMBER MILL 

 

In 1881 Yarborough and Andrews took over the timber mill that had been established at 
Kohukohu in 1879 by Greenfield and Stewart Merchants of Sydney, operated as the 
Hokianga Sawmill Company Ltd. The depression of the 1880’s created hard times - the mill 
closed in 1886, but only briefly.  

In 1888 a group of Melbourne financiers bought out most of the surviving Kauri mills in New 
Zealand, including Kohukohu, and formed the Kauri Timber Company, which became the 
dominant player in the industry from that time on. With the mill back in full production, 
Kohukohu experienced a growth in population, employment and town facilities. 1907 was 
the peak year for production and export of Kauri timber, after which a steady decline set in.  
 
The Kauri Timber Company's Kohukohu Mill closed down in 1909, and was demolished in 
1912. Many of the surviving Kauri buildings in Kohukohu were built at that boom time from 
1890 onwards. 

Kohukohu’s population grew from perhaps 50 people in 1870 to at least 600 people in 
1910. 

After the Kohukohu mill closed in 1909, Rangiora timber mill, other mills in the Hokianga 
and the new dairy factory at Motukaraka (opened in 1908) maintained the economy to a 
level that allowed Kohukohu to continue to operate as a busy commercial centre. The last 
timber mill that operated in Kohukohu opened in 1923-24 and closed after it was destroyed 
by fire in 1937. This mill supplied native timbers for building and manufactured kahikatea 
butter boxes that were sought after by Northland dairy companies. Employment generated 
by this mill helped bring the population of Kohukohu to a peak of 580 people in 1932. 

  

 

TRAGIC NEWS FROM PAPERS PAST 
TARANAKI HERALD, VOLUME XXVII, ISSUE 3096, 21 APRIL 1879, PAGE 2 
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HAWKE'S BAY HERALD, RŌRAHI XXII,  
PUTANGA 7650, 25 KOHITĀTEA 1887 

 
 

 
AUCKLAND STAR, VOLUME XIX, ISSUE 50, 29 FEBRUARY 1888, PAGE 1 
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KAIPARA 

 

The Kaipara Harbour is one of the largest in the world, extending 60 km long, covering 947 
square kilometres.  

At the peak of timber trading it was the busiest Harbour in New Zealand, with many ships 
leaving on a high tide during the day, loaded with Kauri timber from mills around the shores 
of the Harbour and the Wairoa River.  

The entrance to the Harbour, where it meets the Tasman Sea is 6 km wide with treacherous 
sandbars that form 5 m below the surface two to five km from the shore. These sandbars 
move constantly and the Harbour entrance is known as the Graveyard due to the number 
of shipwrecks claimed by the sandbars.  

The first European shipwreck was the Aurora that was lost in 1840. 43 shipwrecks have 
occurred at the Harbour entrance with 113 recorded shipwrecks along the Pouto coastline.  

In 1839, European’s settled in the area and begun to mill the New Zealand native tree Kauri, 
as it was in high demand as a construction timber. By the 1860’s Kaipara Harbour was the 
biggest timber exporting port in the country. The towns of Dargaville and Helensville grew 
with the timber industry, with ships up to 3000 tons being loaded and heading out through 
the Harbour entrance to other ports in New Zealand and Australia. 



~ 25 ~ 

 

NORTHERN WAIROA 

 

AUCKLAND STAR, VOLUME XXXVIII, ISSUE 301, 18 DECEMBER 1907, PAGE 6 
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WAIPOUA TIMBER MILL 

WHATORO TIMBER MILL 

DONNELLY’S CROSSING TIMBER MILL 

 

For years the idea of establishing a State saw mill at Waipoua was discussed by politicians 
but from my research it would appear that that idea was changed with the establishment of 
a State mill established first at Whatoro (1920-22 BURNT DOWN) and then at Donnelly’s 
Crossing (1922-24 CLOSED DOWN)  

Note: A private mill would operate at Donnellys Crossing for many years after the closing of 
the State owned mill. 

 

Selective logging was adopted with the Kauri being transported out to Donnelly’s Crossing 
at the rail head for milling.    

The Waipoua was purchased by the crown in 1876 and was set aside for forestry rather 
than settlement. However after the Second World War there was much pressure to harvest 
the Kauri and convert the land to pasture. In 1947 the Waipoua Preservation Society 
petitioned 52,000 signatures and presented it to parliament and the 9105 hectare, 
Waipoua Forest Sanctuary was declared in 1952.  

 

Today the surviving Kauri forests are probably about 1% of the vast forests that once grew 
in Northland. The Waipoua forest was probably protected initially by its inaccessibility. The 
rivers in that area were not large enough to transport logs to the mills. 

 

In October 1923, the Minister of Public Works, Gordon Coates, directed his department to 
conduct a survey of the central route to determine its feasibility. The district engineer in the 
Dargaville office who had surveyed the route options favoured the coastal route which 
would be more speedily constructed and would cost less in maintenance. The district 
engineer in the Whangarei office favoured the forest route which would better serve the 
timber trade and railway. The coastal route, he reported, was “unoccupied except for a few 
Maori” and the remainder of the land was not likely to be farmed to any extent. 

Coates, like his fellow dairy farmers, favoured the forest route, as did the Department of 
Public Works who operated the railhead and a saw mill at Donnelly's Crossing. 

In June 1926, he finally sought and received the agreement of the commissioner of state 
forests to the inland route. 
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From papers past we get news of the day stating much discussion on where a State Mill 
should be situated and whether or not the Waipoua reserve be opened up for felling… 

 
NORTHERN ADVOCATE, 23 JULY 1913 
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NORTHERN ADVOCATE, 27 MARCH 1915 
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WAIPOUA STATE FOREST 
NORTHERN ADVOCATE, 25 MAY 1915, PAGE 2 
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GREY RIVER ARGUS, 4 FEBRUARY 1916 
 

KAIPARA AND WAITEMATA ECHO, 26 AUGUST 1915 
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NORTHERN ADVOCATE, 15 AUGUST 1913 
 
 

NORTHERN ADVOCATE, 25 APRIL 1914, PAGE 7 
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THE STATE SAWMILL 
KAIPARA AND WAITEMATA ECHO, 25 MARCH 1915 

 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

STATE SAWMILL 

 
 
EVENING POST, VOLUME CIII, ISSUE 122, 26 MAY 1922 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

HAWERA & NORMANBY STAR,  
VOLUME XLVIII, 11 OCTOBER 1924 
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MANGATU/MUNGATU 
 
AUCKLAND STAR, VOLUME XXVI,  
ISSUE 95, 22 APRIL 1895 
 

 
 

ISSUE 126, 30 MAY 1896, PAGE 3 
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MAUNGANUI BLUFF 
 

At Maunganui Bluff/Aranga, WB Stephens ran a small mill cutting Totara railway sleepers 
and timber for local settlers. He employed about six people and milled about 300,000 feet a 
year. 

 
NORTHERN ADVOCATE, 3 DECEMBER 1906, PAGE 2 

 

A rather serious accident happened at Mr Stephens' sawmill, Maunganui Bluff, a few days ago. Mr F. Kohn 
was engaged working at the circular saw, when in some unexplained manner a flitch, in the course of being 
sawn, struck, him heavily on the shoulder and head, inflicting severe scalp and face wounds. The injured 
man was unconscious for some hours till surgical aid arrived. He was then conveyed to the hospital. 
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OPANAKI/KAIHU TIMBER MILL  
 
 

1898:  JAMES TROUNSON  

 

After his move from Paparoa to land near the Flax mill at Parore just north of Dargaville 
James purchased large tracts of land in the Maropiu area and to the North of 
Opanaki/Kaihu including the area’s known as Siberia and Waima. 

To mill the timber on his land he built a saw mill just north of the Opanaki/Kaihu town ship 
on the banks of the Kaihu River. By this time the railway had reached Kaihu from Dargaville, 
and in 1904 James let a contract for the felling and the delivery of four million super feet of 
Kauri per year from Siberia and his Waima forests. The contract was estimated to extend 
over four and a half years and the labour to cost 40,000 pounds. This entailed construction 
of a gigantic tramline to Siberia from the top of the Kaihu hill all the way down to the mill at 
the Kaihu River. This became a centre of attention for many visitors to the district. 

 Floods were an all too frequent menace and caused considerable losses of cut logs at both 
Maropiu and Kaihu.  

The big flood of 1907 caused logs to be strewn from Kaihu to Dargaville, and even left logs 
on the railway line at Kaihu.  

The 1917 flood again broke the boom at the Kaihu mill and Kauri logs and heads piled up 
against the Ahikiwi railway bridge, causing massive flooding in the valley, the water lapping 
the lower branches of the Puriri trees on the Maropiu flats.  

Logs were reclaimed painstakingly over a long period. Even as late as 1968 a log was found 
at Maitahi with James Trounson’s brand on it.  

Early in the 20th century James retired from active work in the Northern Wairoa, leaving his 
sons Edmund and Vivian to attend to his interests:  Edmund, his timber interests, and Vivian 
his farming interests.  

He built a house at Maropiu for three daughters, Mary, Annie and Kate, and in 1901 he built 
a new home for himself on Northcote Point in Auckland known as “Quinton”. This house 
was of colonial architecture and was built entirely from one Kauri tree chosen by James 
himself. There were no joins in the wood and even the rafters in the ceilings were made 
from long lengths of the same Kauri. The timber was brought down from Kaihu by train to 
Dargaville and then to Northcote Point by scow.  

In 1921 James Trounson gifted some of his land North of Whatoro which was covered with 
a magnificent Kauri forest, to the people of New Zealand. Today this place is called 
Trounson Park and is now run by the Department of Conservation.  
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QUINTON VILLA 

 
VILLA AT 2 PRINCES STREET, NORTHCOTE 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

BULLOCKS HAULING LOGS INTO TROUNSON’S MILL 
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ABOVE:  THE STEEP TRAMLINE ON WHICH TIMBER IS BROUGHT FROM THE SIBERIA BUSH KAIHU  

6
 

 
BELOW:  THE FIRST LOG COMING OUT OF THE “SIBERIA” BUSH 

                                                

6 JJ MAXWELL NZ WEEKLY NEWS 
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ABOVE AND BELOW:  BULLOCKS BRINGING IN THE LOGS TO TROUNSON’S MILL AT KAIHU
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LEFT:  TRANSPORTING LOGS FROM SIBERIA WEST OF 

KAIHU AT THE TOP OF THE HILLS DOWN TO THE MILL 

BESIDE THE KAIHU RIVER.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
LEFT: JAMES TROUNSON’S MILL AT KAIHU 

 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

LEFT: THE KAIHU MILL AFTER THE FLOOD OF 1907 
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MAROPIU  

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
ABOVE:  HAULING A LOG OUT TO THE TRAMLINE IN MESSER’S   BONELLA AND YOUNG’S BUSH AT MAROPIU 

 

In 1904, the tramway at Maropiu, Northland, had such a steep grade it required a 
brakeman riding on each bogie (small cart). They both wound hand cranks that pressed 
board brakes onto the faces of each wheel. It was very dangerous work. On a nearby tram 
in that same year, a brakeman was crushed to death by a log when a bogie wheel collapsed. 

 
 

LEFT:  BRAKEMAN ON THE MAROPIU TRAM LINE  
7
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

                                                

7 PHOTOGRAPH TAKEN BY... APG-1398-1/2-F 
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ABOVE:  LOGS AT THE MAROPIU RAIL STATION 1912  

 
 
 
 
 

AUCKLAND STAR, VOLUME XXXVI, ISSUE 251, 20 OCTOBER 1905, PAGE 4 
 

 

 



~ 48 ~ 

 

 

 

New Zealand Herald, Volume XL, Issue 12182, 30 January 1903, Page 7 
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MANGAWHARE 

WEST BANK AT THE MOUTH OF THE KAIHU RIVER 

 

T. S. FORSAITH was one of the earlier exporters of timber from Mangawhare at the mouth 
of the Kaihu River:  from his biography we have the following… 

 

In 1834 he sailed as fourth officer in the Hoogley which was under charter by the 
Government to transport convicts to Botany Bay. In July 1836, in the Lord Goderich, he 
again visited Australia and on the return voyage called at Hokianga to collect a cargo of 
Kauri spars. 

On 17 May 1838, at the Congregational Church in Old Broad Street, London, Forsaith 
married Elizabeth Mary, daughter of Robert Clements, of Hoxton – their wedding being one 
of the first legally celebrated in a dissenting place of worship. 

 Later in the same year he chartered the Coromandel, loaded it with trade goods and 
lumber making machinery, and immigrated to New Zealand.  

In 1839 he purchased two blocks of land in the Kaipara district and established a trading 
station on the northern Wairoa River. He also erected a mill to cut Kauri spars (then selling 
at £17 each) for the British Government, and imported cattle and farm implements to break 
in his land. 

 

HIS LAND PURCHASES… 

 

1839.  10 September.  Mangawhare: 

 I Tirarau hereby agree to sell Mangaware to Mr. Thomas Spencer Forsaith for 50 Pounds in 
money and one coat.  These are the boundaries of this Land, viz.  On one side by the River 
Kaihu, following its course until it reaches the foot of the hill called T.  S.  Forsaith.  [400 
acres] Motuaronga  the  which hill (or elevated Land) forms the boundary on the other side 
extending to the Wairoa River. 
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1839-2,000 acres… 

 Forsyth buys off Wiremu Tipene of Ngati Whatua:  

Deeds—No:  337: Hokorako Block, River Arapaoa, Kaipara District 

 

Now this Indenture witnesseth that in consideration of Twenty-five pairs of blankets, ten 
waistcoats, ten pair of braces, one cloak, ten coats, twenty pairs of Trowsers, twenty shirts, 
five pieces of handkerchiefs, one piece of Dungaree, six pieces of gown print one dozen 
Comforters, five single fowling pieces, two boxes percussion caps, fourteen razors, five cloth 
Caps, two bags of Sugar, two bags of Flour, four Casks of Powder, two casks of Tobacco, Six 
Iron pots, one cask Ball, two boxes Soap, one box pipes, five boxes, a cow and calf, one boat, 
two double barrel fowling pieces and thirty Sovereigns lawful coin of Great Britain in hand 
well and truly delivered by the said Thomas Spencer Forsaith    

 

HASTINGS ATKINS 1851 

 

On the 3 June 1851 Hastings Atkins bought the Mangawhare property off T. S. Forsaith for 
175 pounds. The acreage was now 351. 

The first serious attempt at exporting timber was under taken after 1851 when Mr. Atkins 
and his agents Matthew Marriner and Messrs’ Brown and Campbell formed an exporting 
business at Mangawhare.  

The purpose of the Mangawhare business was to export timber and Kauri gum, these being 
secured from all over the district including the Kaihu River Valley. 

In 1852 Atkins obtained a timber license as per the following news clip (page 167) and in 
1857 it is recorded that he is sending to Portsmouth, England aboard the barque  Signet a 
consignment of 50 Admiralty spars, 28 Tons of Tanekaha bark and 330 tons of Kauri gum. 

 

In 1862 Mr. Atkins retired, and the business was taken over by Dr. Campbell of Messrs’ 
Brown, Campbell and Co. 
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ABOVE:  BROWN AND CAMPBELL AND COMPANY’S STORE AT MANGAWHARE 
ON THE BANKS OF THE NORTHERN WAIROA RIVER 

 
 
 

BELOW:  LOGS ARRIVING AT THE MOUTH OF THE KAIHU RIVER FROM THE KAIHU VALLEY FORESTS 
8 

 

                                                

8 IT IS INTERESTING TO NOTE THAT THIS LOCOMOTIVE “F” 216 SPENT THE WHOLE OF HER LIFE ON THE KAIHU SECTION, HAVING BEEN ERECTED THERE IN 

1888. SHE WAS KNOWN AS K.V.R. NO. 1  (I.E., KAIHU VALLEY RAILWAY NO. 1). 
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NEW ZEALANDER, VOLUME 8, 
 ISSUE 658, 4 AUGUST 1852 

 

NEW ZEALAND SPECTATOR AND COOK'S STRAIT GUARDIAN, VOLUME IX, 
ISSUE 923, 7 JUNE 1854, PAGE 3 

 

 
SHIPPING INTELLIGENCE PORT OF AUCKLAND 

 DAILY SOUTHERN CROSS, VOLUME XIV, ISSUE 1043, 26 JUNE 1857, PAGE 2 
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PORT OF ONEHUNGA 
DAILY SOUTHERN CROSS, VOLUME XVIII, ISSUE 1518, 4 JUNE 1862, PAGE 3 
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DAILY SOUTHERN CROSS, VOLUME XX, ISSUE 2090, 31 MARCH 1864, PAGE 4 
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 WHAPU 
EAST BANK AT THE MOUTH OF THE KAIHU RIVER 

 

TIMBER BUSINESS 

 

It was not until Hasting Atkins bought out T S Forsaith at Mangawhare that the timber 
business at the mouth of the Kaihu River began in earnest and then after the arrival of 
Joseph Dargaville 1871 we had merchants operating each side of the Kaihu River employing 
hundreds of men in this growing business.   

As the mill settlements grew, so too did the demand for service industries. Homes, stores, 
hotels, churches and schools:  rugby and cricket clubs were formed and other recreation 
clubs; people were settling in and so roads and a railway line had to be built to help with 
the ever ending demand from the worlds populous and immigrants. In deed a very busy 
time.    

 

1871:  JOSEPH MCMULLEN DARGAVILLE 

 

In 1869 -70,  Irish Entrepreneur by the name of Joseph McMullen Dargaville joined the 
Melbourne firm of ‘Must and Company’ as their Auckland agent and opened a business as a 
wholesale merchant in Hobson's Buildings, Shortland Street.  

In 1871, Joseph, travelled to the mouth of the Kaihu River then known as Whapu and 
decided to set up shop for his firm Must and Co on the East bank initially and then for 
himself as follows… 

  

Note:  Dargaville commuted frequently from Auckland until late in 1871, when he 
promoted Edwin Mitchelson, a member of his staff, to local manager. 

 

Recognizing the trade potential of the relatively undeveloped resources of Kauri timber and 
gum, Joseph initially leased from Parore Te Awha four acres on the adjacent Kaihu River 
and then eventually in 1872 he purchased from Parore and others the Tunatahi block of 
171 acres, and at the junction of the Wairoa and Kaihu rivers founded and developed the 
town of Dargaville. He set up a trading post and built up a prosperous timber industry that 
by 1876 was reputed to employ over 400 men. 

At his own expense he built a large store and gum shed, and tramways and wharves to 
service the expanding overseas trade. In time, cottages and two hotels were erected and in 
1874 a spacious family home was built on a prime site in the town. He donated land for the 
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Anglican Church and for a school and was one of the original promoters of the Kaihu valley 
railway connecting Kaihu with Dargaville. 

In 1876 Joseph Dargaville sold part of his timber interests to the Union Sash and Door 
Company and Edwin Mitchelson took over his merchant businesses. Dargaville continued to 
own, almost exclusively, the land and buildings of the township, from which he derived 
considerable income through leasing. To gain the maximum economic advantage from his 
estate he established the Dargaville Trust in his wife’s interests and transferred the 
management of his property to the trustees. 

 
NORTHERN WAIROA KAIHU 

DAILY SOUTHERN CROSS, VOLUME XXXII, ISSUE 5324, 4 NOVEMBER 1876, PAGE 5 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

AUCKLAND STAR, VOLUME VI, ISSUE 1688, 16 JULY 1875, PAGE 2 
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About 1910 at the township of Dargaville another saw mill was established and continued 
to operate up until the 1950's. The greater part of its life span was catering for local needs 
rather than export. The mill was established by Anderson and Sundberg, and was known as 
Anderson's Mill for many years.  

In the latter part of its life it was owned by the Rope Family.  

In 1954 a new company was formed by Morse and Ramsey which continued until 1970, 
when the mill was dismantled and re-erected at Parore, a little North of Dargaville. The 
original mill site was upgraded and now forms part of the waterfront area of Dargaville. The 
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extent of the site was from the Northern Wairoa Boating Club to that land now occupied by 
Woolworth’s supermarket. 

Another mill was owned by Woolsey Allan. 9 

 
FIRE AT DARGAVILLE 
EVENING POST, VOLUME XCIII, ISSUE 44, 20 FEBRUARY 1917 
 

 
BUSH ADVOCATE, VOLUME XIX, 
ISSUE 851, 21 OCTOBER 1907 

 
 

 
 

 
 

                                                

9 SOURCE: (EXCERPTS FROM “SAWMILLS ON THE KAIPARA” BY RAY HILL-TAYLOR) 
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A SAWMILL ACCIDENT 
ASHBURTON GUARDIAN, VOLUME XXXIII,  
ISSUE 8821, 18 MARCH 1914 

 
 

                                             LOCAL AND GENERAL 
 

NORTHERN ADVOCATE, 28 JANUARY 1920, PAGE 2 
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POVERTY BAY HERALD, VOLUME XLV, 
ISSUE 14784, 11 DECEMBER 1918 
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EDWIN MITCHELSON AND CO. 1876 

 
 
 

 

LEFT: EDWIN MITCHELSON.  
10 

   
 

In 1871 Mitchelson joined the firm of J. M. Dargaville and 
Company, timber and Kauri gum merchants. He was soon 
promoted to manager of their store and trading concerns. 
The area's first post office was located in this store and 
Mitchelson was postmaster from 1871 to 1880.  

In 1876, when Joseph Dargaville sold the timber interests, 
Mitchelson took over the other enterprises. With his 
brothers Richard and John he founded the firm of E. 
Mitchelson and Company, which later extended its activities 
to include the timber trade. He was also involved in 
founding the shipbuilding industry on the Kaihu River. He 
owned several ships, including the fine schooner Huia, 

trading regularly between Kaipara Harbour and Lyttelton. Mitchelson along with Mr. 
Dargaville was one of the original promoters of the Kaihu Valley railway. 

 

When Mitchelson moved to Auckland in 1881 he established a branch of E. Mitchelson and 
Company, with offices and a gum warehouse in Little Queen Street. From the 1890s the 
output from the saw mills he had built at Aoroa and elsewhere in the north was prodigious. 
In December 1898 a new company, Mitchelson Timber Company, was formed and the head 
office transferred from Dargaville to Auckland. At the peak of sawn timber production in 
1907 the company held cutting rights to Kauri on Crown lands in Hobson, Hokianga and 
Whangarei counties. 

                                                

10 SOURCE: ALEXANDER TURNBULL LIBRARY 
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A BIG RAILWAY CONTRACT 
MARLBOROUGH EXPRESS, VOLUME XXIII, ISSUE 17, 21 JANUARY 1887, PAGE 2 
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OTAGO WITNESS, ISSUE 1842, 11 MARCH 1887 
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4 

THE KAURI TIMBER COMPANY  
THE UNION STEAM SAW, MOULDING, SASH AND DOOR 

COMPANY: 1864 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
LEFT:  

11
   

 

The Kauri Timber Company was formed in 1888 by a 
group of financiers in Melbourne, Australia and 
quickly gained a monopoly of the Kauri industry by 
the takeover of a number of the distressed milling 
companies. 

It owned and operated as many as thirty mills at one 
time, and shipped Kauri to Australia and the west 
coast of the United States. 

With the depletion of Kauri resources, the company 
diversified operations into other timbers, by taking 
over other milling companies including White Pine 
Company in 1902, Ellis and Burnand in 1904, and 
Butler Brothers in 1907.  

In 1961 the Kauri Timber Company was itself taken over by Fletcher Timber Ltd, which is 
today New Zealand’s second largest forestry company, operating in a number of countries. 
The depressed state of the Kauri industry continued until 1897, by which time 75 per cent 
of the Kauri forests had been cut. Production then increased in a final great boom period 
that reached a peak in 1907. From thereon Kauri production declined, and minor quantities 
were milled from 1920 until 1973 when Kauri became protected. The supply of logs from 
private land had almost ceased in the late 1950’s and early 1960’s, but continued from 
State forests. 

 

                                                

11 SOURCE: PHOTOGRAPHIC ARCHIVE, ALEXANDER TURNBULL LIBRARY, REFERENCE: PACOLL-5792-06 
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By 1890 the Australian registered Kauri Timber Company owned and milled huge areas of 
Kauri forest in this country for use in Australia and the West Coast of America. It owned and 
operated as many as 30 mills at one time towards the close of the century, at a time when 
an estimated 35,000 square kilometres of land was either milled or cleared for pastoral 
farming.  

Some of those mills included the Hokianga saw mill company: New Zealand timber 
Company:  W B Jackson and Jackson gum company all in the Hokianga district and also the 
Kaihu Valley Railway Companies timber only. 

The company was registered in Melbourne, Victoria on July 4 1888 and re registered on 
August 31 1920.  

In 1957 Industrial Products of Australia was acquired. This subsidiary had steel franchises 
covering Western Australia. In October 1957, Leask Corporation Pty. Ltd of Waitara, NSW 
was acquired.  

In June 1961, it was announced that the company had sold all its New Zealand interests to 
the Fletcher Trust Investment Co. Limited and the balance of some minor interests was sold 
to the same company in December 1961.  

A significant chapter in the history of industrial relations in New Zealand was the 
Waterfront Strike of 1913. This dispute began on the Wellington waterfront between 
waterfront workers and the Union Steam Ship Company over wages. The dispute soon 
spread to other industries around the country. 

The labour movement and trade unions in New Zealand remain an important aspect of 
industry in New Zealand. 

The following photograph shows the infamous Massey’s Special Constables outside the 
gates of the Kauri Timber Company on the Auckland Harbour, controlling the workers 
during the 1913 Waterfront Strike. 
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NEWS OF THE KAURI TIMBER COMPANY FROM PAPERS PAST 
 

A KAURI TIMBER SYNDICATE 
STAR, ISSUE 6202, 3 APRIL 1888 

 

 
AUCKLAND STAR, VOLUME XIX,  

ISSUE 133, 6 JUNE 1888 
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THE KAURI TIMBER SYNDICATE 
STAR, ISSUE 6264, 14 JUNE 1888 
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KAURI SYNDICATE 
ASHBURTON GUARDIAN, VOLUME VII,  
ISSUE 1887, 7 JULY 1888,  

 
THE GREAT KAURI SYNDICATE 

WANGANUI CHRONICLE, VOLUME XXXI, 
ISSUE 11299, 18 JULY 1888 

 
 

THE KAURI TIMBER COMPANY 
MARLBOROUGH EXPRESS, VOLUME XXIV, 
ISSUE 148, 12 JULY 1888, PAGE 

 
2 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 



~ 75 ~ 

 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 



~ 76 ~ 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



~ 77 ~ 

 

 
POVERTY BAY HERALD, VOLUME XV, ISSUE 5232, 26 JULY 1888 
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THAMES STAR, VOLUME XX, ISSUE 4683,  
7 AUGUST 1888 

 
OTAGO DAILY TIMES, ISSUE 8321,  

23 OCTOBER 1888 

 
 
 
BAY OF PLENTY TIMES, VOLUME XV,  
ISSUE 2328, 3 SEPTEMBER 1888 
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STAR, ISSUE 6383, 31 OCTOBER 1888 
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EVENING POST, VOLUME XXXVII, 
 ISSUE 92, 18 APRIL 1889  

 
 
 
 

EVENING POST, VOLUME XXXVII, 
 ISSUE 102, 1 MAY 1889 

 

 
 

A LIVELY MEETING OF CREDITORS 
EVENING POST, VOLUME XXXVII, 

 ISSUE 109, 9 MAY 1889 
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EVENING POST, VOLUME XXXVII,  

ISSUE 123, 25 MAY 1889 
 

In the case of the Kaihu Valley Railway Company v the Kauri Timber Company, which was a 
motion for the removal of a caveat lodged by the Kauri Timber Company, the Court ordered 
that the caveat should be removed on the ground that the argument regarding the sale of 
growing timber was ultra vires, as being an undertaking to carry on business as timber 
merchants. Costs were allowed on the highest scale. 

 
OTAGO WITNESS, ISSUE 2099, 17 MAY 1894, PAGE 13 
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AUCKLAND STAR, VOLUME XXVIII, 
 ISSUE 298, 23 DECEMBER 1897 
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TIMBER WORKERS' DISPUTE 
AUCKLAND STAR, VOLUME XXXII,  

ISSUE 99, 27 APRIL 1901 
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EVENING POST, VOLUME CXL,  
ISSUE 115, 12 NOVEMBER 1945 

 
AUCKLAND STAR, VOLUME XXIII, ISSUE 118, 19 MAY 1892 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
ABOVE:  TIMBER MEN CROSS CUTTING AN ANCIENT KAURI 
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ABOVE:  BOOM AT KOHUKOHU HARBOUR, HOKIANGA NORTHLAND 

SHOWS THE LOGS CLOSE TO THE SHORELINE, AND A WAKA NEAR THE FOREGROUND  
12

 

 
 
 

BELOW:  THE BARQUE “ASHMORE” (LEFT) AND THE SCOW “KORORA” BEING LOADED 
WITH KAURI SPARS AT KOHUKOHU:  SHOWS A BOOM IN THE FOREGROUND 

13
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

                                                

12 SOURCE: PHOTOGRAPH TAKEN CIRCA 1910S, BY THE NORTHWOOD BROTHERS. 
13 SOURCE: PHOTOGRAPHED BY HENRY WRIGHT IN 1893 
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BELOW:  SAW MILL AT KOHUKOHU ON THE NORTHERN SHORELINE OF THE HOKIANGA HARBOUR, NORTHLAND 

(SHOWS LOGS FLOATING IN THE WATER IN FRONT OF THE MILL, AND BUILDINGS OF THE TOWNSHIP ON THE HILL BEHIND)  
14

 

 
 

                                                

14 SOURCE: PHOTOGRAPH TAKEN CIRCA 1910S, BY THE NORTHWOOD BROTHERS. 
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THE KAURI TIMBER COMPANIES SAWMILL AT WAIMAMAKU 

 
HAWERA & NORMANBY STAR, VOLUME XLVIII, ISSUE 8018, 22 JUNE 1904 

 

The Waimamaku correspondent of the New Zealand Herald writes “The first bush to be worked in 
connection with the Kauri Timber Companies new mill has been opened. It is estimated to contain half- a 
million feet of Kauri. The timber is easily accessible, and it is thought will be sufficient for the winter. In the 
summer some of the, larger bushes will be opened”.  

 
 
 
 
 
 

BELOW:  WAIMAMAKU TIMBER MILL 

(ESTABLISHED BY THE KAURI TIMBER COMPANY 1904)  
15

 

 
 

 

                                                

15 SOURCE: PHOTOGRAPH TAKEN BY THE NORTHWOOD BROTHERS CIRCA 1910. 
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ABOVE:  STEAM ENGINE SHUNTING A LOG TOWARDS THE MILL AT WAIMAMAKU 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

BELOW:  A GIANT KAURI FELLED IN MESSRS.’ FAITHFUL AND HOW’S BUSH WAIMAMAKU 
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LOADING UP BULLOCK WAGONS AT THE KAURI TIMBER COMPANIES YARD WAIMAMAKU  
16

 
 
 

                                                

16 PHOTO’S SOURCED FROM… 
 

 
HELPING TO MAKE NEW ZEALAND'S DIGITAL CONTENT EASIER TO FIND, SHARE AND USE. 
TOP OF FORM 
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UNION STEAM SAW, MOULDING, SASH AND DOOR COMPANY 1864 
 

1873: The Union Sash and Door Company buy the timber mill at Aratapu on the Northern 
Wairoa River. 

1874:  The Union Sash and Door Company obtain large forests in the Kaihu River Valley for 
their mill at Aratapu. Local Maori benefit from the cutting rights at Opanaki/Kaihu 

1876: Joseph Dargaville sells part of his timber business to the Union Sash and Door 
Company at Whapu at the mouth of the Kaihu River. 

 
 

DAILY SOUTHERN CROSS, VOLUME XX, ISSUE 2155, 16 JUNE 1864, PAGE 3 
UNION STEAM SAW, MOULDING’S, SASH, AND DOOR COMPANY 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

DAILY SOUTHERN CROSS, VOLUME XXI, ISSUE 2350, 31 JANUARY 1865, PAGE 5 
 

The first half-yearly meeting of the Union Steam Sawmill Sash and Door Company (limited) was held at 
Messrs’ Arthur and Soil's Chambers, Queen-street, on Friday, January 20. Mr. D. Nathan was in the chair, 
and the report, which was led by the secretary, was most satisfactory. A dividend of 20 per cent, per 
annum on the paid up capital was declared, and a considerable amount was carried forward as a reserve 
fund. 
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AUCKLAND STAR, VOLUME II, ISSUE 477, 21 JULY 1871, PAGE 2 

 
 

 
 

 DAILY SOUTHERN CROSS, VOLUME XXVIII, ISSUE 4651, 22 JULY 1872, PAGE 2  
 

The ordinary half-yearly meeting of the Union Steam Sawmill Sash and Door Company  (limited)  was held 
on Saturday at the office of Mr. F. A. White, Shortland-street ; 0. J. Stone, Esq., in the chair. The affairs of 
the company appear it a very satisfactory condition, and a dividend of 12 per cent, was declared, payable 
at the office of the company on and after the 24th instant. 

 
DAILY SOUTHERN CROSS, VOLUME XXIX,  
ISSUE 5075, 26 NOVEMBER 1873 

 
 

NELSON EVENING MAIL, VOLUME IX, 
ISSUE 90, 16 APRIL 1874 
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DAILY SOUTHERN CROSS, VOLUME XXXII,  
ISSUE 5330, 11 NOVEMBER 1876 

 
 

UNION SASH AND DOOR COMPANY 
WAIKATO TIMES, VOLUME XXVI, ISSUE 2124, 

 18 FEBRUARY 1886, PAGE 2 
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NELSON EVENING MAIL, VOLUME XXII, ISSUE 93,  
23 APRIL 1888 
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UNION STEAM SASH AND DOOR COMPANY 
AUCKLAND STAR, VOLUME XVII,  
ISSUE 49, 27 FEBRUARY 1886 

 
 

WANGANUI CHRONICLE, VOLUME XXX, 
ISSUE 11485, 13 MAY 1887 
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THE TIMBER BOOMS ON THE KAIHU RIVER 
 

 
17 

                                                

17 SOURCE: D-01 PUBLIC WORKS STATEMENT, BY THE MINISTER FOR PUBLIC WORKS, THE HON. W. HALL-JONES. 2ND OCTOBER, 
1896 
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NEWS IN BRIEF 
EVENING POST, VOLUME LV, ISSUE 130, 3 JUNE 1898, PAGE 2 
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ROBERT P GIBBONS 
 

11 December 1916, Order in Council approves plan M D 4698 of a timber-boom for Robert 
P Gibbons (Limited) on Kaihu Creek, Kaipara Harbour. A second Order in Council licenses 
Robert P Gibbons (Limited) to occupy foreshore at Kaihu Creek as a site for a timber-boom.  

Source is entitled “Return showing the Orders in Council which have been issued during the 
year ended 31st March, 1917”. All the Orders in Council listed in some way relate to 
maritime activities, and those that mention the names of persons have been indexed. In all 
cases the mentions are very brief, and each index entry contains all details available in the 
source. Entries in this list include the names Na Himi Hare and Catherine McCallum. 

 Note: the entries for Robert P Gibbons (Limited), T M Lane and Sons, and A S Andrewes and 
Sons, have been indexed here both under the name of the firm and of the individual, but 
the full entry appears only under the name of the individual eg the entry for Robert P 
Gibbons (Limited) is found under Gibbons, Robert P. 18 

                                                

18     SOURCE NZ MARITIME  
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THAMES STAR, VOLUME XXXIX,  
ISSUE 10471, 22 NOVEMBER 1904 

 
 

EVENING POST, VOLUME XCII,  
ISSUE 99, 24 OCTOBER 1916 

 

 

COLONIST, VOLUME XLVIII,  
ISSUE 11670, 4 JULY 1906 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

RICH ESTATES 

BUSH ADVOCATE, VOLUME XIX, 
ISSUE 886, 2 DECEMBER 1907 
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ABOVE:  KAURI BOOM ALONGSIDE THE PARKER-LAMB TIMBER CO LTD, AUCKLAND  
19

 

 
 
 
 

BELOW:  A BOOM OF LOGS AT MITCHELSON AND BROTHERS MILL AT AOROA ON THE NORTHERN WAIROA RIVER  
20

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

                                                

19 SOURCE: NATIONAL LIBRARY.  GOVT. N.Z: TAPUHI: -6181-60 
 
20 SOURCE: AUCKLAND WEEKLY NEWS. 
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